**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

Electronically Filed  
Oct 21 2025 04:03 PM  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

FRANCISCO SILVA, AN  
INDIVIDUAL,  
*Appellant,*

vs.

ED CLAY, AN INDIVIDUAL;  
SCOTT NELSON, AN  
INDIVIDUAL; DEDDRICK  
PERRY, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND  
CPI MANAGEMENT GROUP,  
LLC,  
*Respondent.*

Supreme Court Case No. 90651

District Court: A-25-909767-B

**APPEAL  
From the Eighth Judicial District Court  
The Honorable Maria A. Gall**

---

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

---

V.R. Bohman, Nevada Bar No. 13075  
Xyzlo Lee, Nevada Bar No. 16912  
SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.  
1700 South Pavilion Center Dr. Suite 700  
Las Vegas, NV 89135

## INTRODUCTION

Appellant Francisco Silva (“Silva”) seeks a preliminary injunction to halt Respondents Ed Clay, Scott Nelson, and Deddrick Perry (“Respondents”) from using, or authorizing or causing others to use Silva’s stem cells. The cells derive from Silva and his wife genetically, as Silva harvested them from the umbilical cords of his two children. They also derive from Silva intellectually because he modified them to treat a variety of medical conditions. Respondents have taken Silva’s cells and—without Silva’s consent—continue to inject them into patients at a cross-border clinic in Tijuana operated by Respondents and CPI Management Group, LLC (the “Clinic”). Respondents profiteer handsomely from this misconduct; the Clinic generates more than **\$1,000,000 each week** from Silva’s cells.

This appeal presents substantial issues of first impression and public policy regarding a business’s ability to use an individual’s stem cells without obtaining written, informed consent. Pluripotent stem cells—stem cells that can be developed into virtually any cell or tissue type—can now be derived from nasal or oral mucosa, teeth, and blood. The *reductio ad absurdum* of Respondents’ theory is that a business can

simply pluck a used Kleenex from the school, curbside, or courtroom trash and use stem cells derived therefrom without any consent at all, let alone informed consent, from the source of those materials.

The district court rejected Silva's application for preliminary injunction against Respondents' use of his cells. It found, for Silva to succeed on a claim for conversion against Respondents, he had to persuade the Court that he entered a transaction with Respondents whereby he could withdraw his consent at any time. But the district court erred by finding a transaction must have occurred; it ignored the Clinic's operating agreement and assumed that the absence of documentary evidence of such a transaction supports the Respondents' ownership of the stem cells rather than Silva's ownership. To the contrary: stem cells should presumptively belong to their biological and intellectual source. Fundamental concepts of informed consent and medical ethics similarly require the treating entity—not the source individual—to demonstrate proof of consent for use an individual's biological material.

If the Court upholds the district court's order, then any individual could have their stem cells collected and exploited by unscrupulous businessmen without their consent. Then, the onus would lie on the

victim to prove that they did not consent to use of their stem cells. Such a rule flouts both longstanding Nevada public policy and established medical ethics, creating perverse incentives for businesses to take advantage of the public, especially the most vulnerable members of the population. Respectfully, the Court cannot endorse such a myopic view of biological commercialization. Informed, written consent lies at the foundation of modern medicine and related law. Further, the Court should reverse those portions of the district court's order that ignore Nevada law regarding parol evidence and LLC member liability. In sum, the Court should grant Silva's appeal, reverse the district court's order, and remand for further proceedings to reevaluate Silva's application in light of this Court's guidance.

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3) because Appellant timely appeals from an order refusing to grant an injunction. The appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1) because the order issued on April 30, 2025, 2 AA 273; the written notice of entry of the order issued on May 5, 2025, 2 AA 282; and Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal on May 16, 2025, 2 AA 295.

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court should retain this matter pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) because it arose in business court.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Whether a business can properly inject its customers with an individual's stem cells in the absence of informed, written consent from the source individual.
2. Whether an LLC can properly rely on extrinsic evidence to alter the terms of its operating agreement when the agreement contains an integration clause.
3. Whether members of an LLC remain liable for their own misconduct, even if acting on behalf of the LLC.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **A. Statement of Facts**

#### **1. The parties form CPI.**

Silva is a biologist while Respondents are businessmen. 1 AA 52–53. In 2021, Silva and Respondents formed CPI, a Nevada limited-liability company, as its sole members. 1 AA 52. Silva contributed \$250 for a 25% membership interest in CPI, and each of the other three Respondents contributed proportionate to their own membership interest. 1 AA 112. Specifically, Clay contributed \$375 for his 37.5% interest, Nelson contributed \$225 for his 22.5% interest, and Perry contributed \$150 for his 15% interest. *Id.* Each member received financial and voting rights with their membership interest. *Id.* No other contributions were made. *Id.*; see also 1 AA 87 (section 3.1 of the operating agreement, stating that the members’ capital contributions are listed on Exhibit A [1 AA 112]).

The members formed CPI for the purpose of operating a biotech business. 1 AA 86. CPI does business as the “Cellular Performance Institute,” widely known for its Tijuana Clinic, where it provides stem cell therapy to high-performance athletes and individuals with chronic pains. 1 AA 53. While Silva initially procured the stem cells that the

Clinic used for treatments, disagreements with Respondents culminated in Respondents purporting to expel Silva from CPI in 2024 and to strip him of his interest therein.<sup>1</sup> 1 AA 60–63. But Respondents never secured Silva’s consent for their use of his stem cells. 1 AA 64. Now, Silva wants Respondents to stop their continuing direct and indirect use of his stem cells. *Id.* Respondents refuse. 1 AA 64–65.

## **2. The Clinic exclusively uses Silva’s stem cells.**

The Clinic’s treatment exclusively relies on Silva’s stem cell lines, as well as processes that Silva developed for the duplication and injection of the stem cells produced from those lines. 1 AA 58–59. Silva developed the stem cell lines from the umbilical cords of his two children, which he harvested at the time of their births (“First Generation Cells”). 1 AA 58. From those First Generation Cells, he prepared five stem cell vials and provided them to the Clinic (“Second Generation Cells”). *Id.* Each of the vials can be duplicated multiple times in a process that generates billions of Third Generation Cells. *Id.* The Clinic then injects several millions of

---

<sup>1</sup> Issues relating to Respondents’ business torts against Silva are pending before this Court in a separate appeal, Supreme Court Case No. 91228. While both appeals involve the same parties, this appeal concerns only Silva’s request for a preliminary injunction based on Respondents’ conversion of Silva’s stem cells.

these Third Generation Cells into a single patient per treatment. *Id.* Patients pay tens of thousands of dollars per treatment and the Clinic treats hundreds of patients each month. 1 AA 59. Respondents make more than \$1,000,000 per week from the unauthorized use of Silva’s cells. 1 AA 173.

Respondents also advertise CPI’s relationship with Silva and his role in providing the Clinic with stem cells. 1 AA 54 (citing Cellular Performance Institute, “Curing Cancer Became an Obsession’ — CPI Stem Cells & The TAM Center”; last accessed October 21, 2025, <https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=faUXymrht2Y>). In marketing materials posted by CPI’s official YouTube account, Clay describes Silva as “one of the top cellular scientists, stem cell scientists in the world” and that “after he agreed to partner ... the stem cell aspect just blew up. We [CPI] are now the largest manufacturer of mesenchymal stem cells in the world. We’re making more stem cells than anybody, by far.” *Id.* Further, Silva’s stem cells have funded CPI’s cancer research and the laboratory that CPI built in Mexico. *Id.*

### **3. Respondents purport to expel Silva from CPI.**

After Silva partnered with Respondents the Clinic boomed in profitability. 1 AA 59. However, in 2024, Silva and Respondents' relationship deteriorated after Silva discovered financial and accounting irregularities at CPI. 1 AA 59–60. CPI's former Chief Financial Officer, hand-picked by Respondents, embezzled millions of dollars from CPI. 1 AA 60. Silva also discovered that Respondents used CPI funds to purchase property in other states without his knowledge. 1 AA 61. Silva attempted to investigate these improprieties, but Respondents shut him down at every turn. 1 AA 61–62.

The tension between Silva and Respondents reached its apogee in late 2024, when Respondents purported to terminate Silva as an officer of CPI and to strip his membership interest in CPI.<sup>2</sup> 1 AA 62–63. They did not purport to compensate Silva in any way for either action, nor did they redeem Silva's 25% membership interest, financial rights, or voting rights in CPI in any manner, let alone a manner permitted by CPI's Operating Agreement. 1 AA 63.

---

<sup>2</sup> While Silva disputes the legal effectiveness of Respondents' termination and revocation, those issues fall outside the scope of this appeal.

#### **4. Silva acts to protect his stem cells.**

After Respondents purported to expel Silva from CPI and the Clinic, Silva sought to stop Respondents from further use of his stem cells. 1 AA 64. In January 2025, Silva sent CPI and Respondents letters clarifying that he revoked any consent for the Clinic to use or duplicate the stem cell vials, or for the Clinic to continue injecting patients with the duplicated stem cells. 1 AA 64, 116–18. A week later, Respondents replied that Silva lacked any rights to the cells and rejected any obligation to cease using them. 1 AA 64–65. They did not cite any authority, legal or otherwise, nor did they identify any agreement between themselves or CPI and Silva that authorized the ongoing use of Silva’s cells. *Id.* However, after Silva initiated the underlying litigation, Respondents requested a meeting to discuss a “Material Purchase and Licensing Agreement” for Silva’s “IP assets.” 1 AA 121. Silva understood that request as an overture from Respondents to rectify the lack of consent to use the cells by attempting to purchase the stem cell vials, duplicated cells, and techniques required for duplication and injection. 1 AA 121. But by that point it was too late.

## **B. Relevant Procedural History and Rulings Presented for Review**

On January 10, 2025, Silva sued Respondents for, among other torts, converting his stem cells. 1 AA 1. On March 7, 2025, he filed the Verified First Amended Complaint, operative at the times relevant to this appeal. 1 AA 52. Concurrently, Silva applied for a preliminary injunction to prevent Respondents from using, or authorizing or causing others to use Silva's stem cells. 1 AA 119. On March 31, 2025, Respondents opposed Silva's application. 1 AA 136. On April 8, 2025, Silva replied in support. 1 AA 177. On April 15, 2025, the district court heard the application. 2 AA 244–72. On April 30, 2025, it denied the application in full. 2 AA 273–81. On May 5, 2025, it filed notice of entry of the order denying the application. 2 AA 282–94. Silva now appeals that denial. 2 AA 295.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

A stem cell clinic must obtain informed written consent from the source of the stem cells it injects into patients. The Clinic operated by Respondents never secured Silva's consent, but it continues to treat patients using Silva's stem cells after Silva made his lack of consent unmistakably clear. Respondents' conduct violates Nevada law, medical ethics, and multiple guidelines relating to the use of human stem cells in modern medicine. Yet when Silva requested that Respondents and the Clinic cease use of his stem cells, they refused. The district court below erred in finding that Respondents transacted for the use of Silva's stem cells, including by relying on parol evidence, as well as an incorrect view of LLC member liability.

Silva is entitled to an injunction. The stem cells belong to Silva, biologically and legally. Silva is likely to succeed on the elements of a conversion claim against Respondents who continue to wrongfully exert dominion over his stem cells. Respondents' profiteering from Silva's stem cells causes Silva great and irreparable harm, while Respondents admit that they will suffer no harm if forced to switch to an alternate source of stem cells. The balance of hardships and public interest also both favor

Silva. Respectfully, the Court should reverse the district court order denying Silva's application for preliminary injunction and remand this matter for further consideration before the district court.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **A. This Court should review the legal issues presented by this appeal de novo.**

The district court “has discretion in determining whether to grant a preliminary injunction,” and this Court “will only reverse the district court’s decision when ‘the district court abused its discretion or based its decision on an erroneous legal standard or on clearly erroneous findings of fact.’” *Excellence Cmty. Mgmt. v. Gilmore*, 131 Nev. 347, 351, 351 P.3d 720, 722 (2015) (citation omitted). But “[i]n an appeal from a preliminary injunction,” the Court “reviews questions of law de novo.” *Id.*

While Silva challenges some of the district court’s clearly erroneous findings of fact, the primary issues posed by this appeal are all questions of law. The Court should determine, de novo, whether a stem cell clinic may inject third parties with an individual’s stem cells when the clinic lacks written, informed consent to use those stem cells. It should confirm that parol evidence cannot be used to alter the terms of a written operating agreement, particularly where it contains an integration

clause. It should confirm that LLC members remain liable for their own misconduct, even if acting on behalf of the LLC. And it should reverse the district court order denying the injunction.

**B. The Clinic may not use Silva’s stem cells without his informed, written consent.**

Medical ethics, public policy regarding consent, and Nevada law compel a single conclusion: Respondents and the Clinic cannot use Silva’s stem cells without Silva’s informed, written consent. Anyone profiting from another individual’s biological material must first obtain written, informed consent from the individual to do so. It is such a bedrock principle of medical ethics that nobody seriously challenges it—except Respondents.

This is because medical ethics plainly forbid such takings. “Human biological materials and their products may not be used for commercial purposes without the consent of the tissue donor.” AMA Code of Ethics, Op. 7.3.9, last accessed online on October 21, 2025, <https://code-medical-ethics.ama-assn.org/ethics-opinions/commercial-use-human-biological-materials>. The American Medical Association adds that physicians should “[s]hare profits from the commercial use of human biological

materials with the tissue donor in accordance with lawful contractual agreements.” *Id.*

The International Society for Stem Cell Research requires a similar approach. “Embryos, fetal tissue, and other cells and tissues should be used in research only if voluntary informed consent was obtained from the donors before the research commences. The informed consent process should be robust and document” various applications and potential uses. ISSCR 2025 Guidelines for Stem Cell Research and Clinical Translation, Guideline 2.3.2 (“Informed Consent for the Donation of Human Cells and Tissues”), last accessed online on October 21, 2025, <https://www.isscr.org/guidelines/laboratory-based-human-embryonic-stem-cell-research-embryo-research-and-related-research-activities>.

Even CPI’s advertisements and marketing materials referencing Silva or employing his likeness require his written consent. *See* NRS 597.790 (stating that each person has a right of publicity in their likeness enduring for their life plus 50 years, and that commercial use of such likeness requires written consent). While not directly applicable to stem cells, surely sound public policy places at least as great an interest

in the protection of an individual's unique biological material as in their name and likeness.

Furthermore, under Nevada law, even if Respondents *had* obtained Silva's informed, written consent, such consent is inherently revocable unless a valid, enforceable agreement expressly provides otherwise. "Informed consent" under Nevada law (*see* NRS 629.181) includes the right to withdraw consent. (*See generally* NRS 629.161(2)). There is no provision in Nevada law that makes such consent irrevocable. Indeed, Nevada's Consumer Health Data Privacy Act, which reflects Nevada's ethical norms over control of health and genetic information, includes a right to withdraw consent. *See generally* NRS 603A.535. Neither CPI nor Respondents had consent to use Silva's stem cells, and attempted to obtain his consent only after Silva initiated this litigation. 1 AA 121. Silva did not grant it to them. *Id.*

While Silva argued below that the Clinic bore the burden of demonstrating that it obtained consent to use his stem cells, the district court neglected to address the Clinic's failure to provide proof of consent. *See generally* Order, 2 AA 273–81. In fact, the district court came to the opposite conclusion—that Silva had to present sufficient evidence that he

entered a transaction with Respondents whereby he could withdraw his consent. 2 AA 275.

The district court's reasoning is painfully flawed: while the Clinic could easily prove consent if it had obtained it, Silva cannot prove lack of consent except by expressly disclaiming and revoking any such consent, which he did to no avail. 1 AA 64, 116–18. This Court should reverse the district court's legal error. Taken to its logical end, a wrongdoer could take a victim's Kleenex from the trash to develop a commercially successful stem cell line, then allege it had consent to shift the burden to the victim to prove no consent was given or such consent was limited or subject to revocation. The district court itself noted the possibility that someone could take genetic material without permission while the victim slept, 2 AA 263, but placed the burden on the victim (Silva) to prove the scope and limits of the alleged consent. No individual should be presumed to have given unlimited, irrevocable consent to use biological materials in the absence of a written agreement to the contrary. Nor is the undersigned aware of any area of the law—let alone the sensitive area of an individual's biological material—that such a presumption has been permitted.

While Silva bears the burden of demonstrating his entitlement to an injunction, he cannot and should not bear the burden of proving that Respondents lack consent to use his stem cells—otherwise, any victim of biological theft would be at the mercy of the bad actor. Such a rule would create perverse incentives for businesses to take advantage of the public generally, and especially those most vulnerable to exploitation.

Public policy and established law require the treating entity to bear the burden of proving that it obtained the biological material lawfully, including obtaining written, informed consent for its use. This Court should uphold those policy considerations and hold that, in the absence of informed, written consent, neither the Clinic nor Respondents may continue to use Silva’s stem cells.

**C. The Clinic never obtained Silva’s consent, nor did Respondents and Silva transact for the Clinic’s use of Silva’s stem cells.**

The district court erred by finding “a real dispute of fact as to the terms of the underlying transaction” between Silva and Respondents “through which [Silva] provided the stem cells and cell duplication processes to CPI.” 2 AA 275. No such transaction occurred. Worse, the district court created this specter out of inadmissible parol evidence.

Faced with the mountain of evidence, biology, and law all demonstrating that Silva owns the stem cells, Respondents desperately and disingenuously claimed, for the first time in the underlying briefing on the application, that Silva contributed his stem cells to them for a membership interest in CPI. 1 AA 150. Despite this argument's legal impossibility and Respondents' utter absence of supporting evidence, this is the argument that the district court credited. 2 AA 275–76. It found that there was some unknown and undescribed transaction whereby Silva exchanged the cells for his 25% membership interest in CPI. *Id.* This finding constitutes clear error as a matter of fact and abuse of discretion as a matter of law.

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