IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

FRANCISCO SILVA, AN
INDIVIDUAL,
Appellant,

vs.

ED CLAY, AN INDIVIDUAL; SCOTT
NELSON, AN INDIVIDUAL;
DEDDRICK PERRY, AN
INDIVIDUAL; AND CPI
MANAGEMENT GROUP, LLC, A
NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY
Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Dec 19 2025 02:58 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 90651
Dist. Ct. Case No. A-25-909767-B

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial
District Court

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

JEFFERY A. BENDAVID, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 6220
JACQUELINE VOKOUN, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 16400

BENDAVID LAW

7301 Peak Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, Nevada 89128
(702) 385-6114

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

Accordingly, should this Court decline to dismiss the appeal as moot based on Silva's material amendment of the FAVC, the appropriate standard of review is whether the district court abused its discretion in denying Silva's Application for Preliminary Injunction.

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. THE SUBSEQUENT FILING OF SILVA’S SECOND AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT RENDERS THIS APPEAL MOOT.

The instant appeal is moot because Silva subsequently amended the complaint and the claim upon which his Application for Preliminary Injunction relied. It is well settled under Nevada law that this Court’s duty is to “resolve actual controversies by an enforceable judgment.” *Personhood Nev. v. Bristol*, 126 Nev. 599, 602, 245 P.3d 572, 574 (2010). Where subsequent events prevent the court from rendering effective relief, the appeal must typically be dismissed as moot. *Id.* Here, the Court cannot render effective relief regarding Silva’s Application for Preliminary Injunction because Silva amended the complaint and the claim upon which the Application was based. As the exception to the mootness doctrine is inapplicable here, Silva’s appeal must be dismissed as moot.

1. Silva’s SAVC Is a Distinct Pleading Entirely Superseding the FAVC Upon Which His Application for Preliminary Injunction Relied

Under Nevada law, the existence of an underlying complaint is necessary to permit the granting of a preliminary injunction. *See Manzonie v. State*, 81 Nev. 53, 55, 398 P.2d 694, 695 (1965); *Peccole v. City of Las Vegas*, 385 P.3d 594, 132 Nev. 1016 (2016). Furthermore, where a complaint is amended in a material way, the amended complaint is a “distinct pleading which supersede[s] the original complaint.” *Randono v. Ballow*, 100 Nev. 142, 143, 676 P.2d 807, 808 (1984); *see*

also Del, L.P. v. Heritage Bank of Nev., 2025 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 53, *5, 562 P.3d 1070 (2025). Thus, where the complaint underlying an application for preliminary is dismissed, materially amended, or otherwise made irrelevant, an appeal challenging the denial of the preliminary injunction is rendered moot. *Manzonie*, 81 Nev. at 55, 398 P.2d at 695.

Here, Silva's Application for Preliminary Injunction was based exclusively on his claim for conversion asserted against Member Respondents Clay, Nelson, and Perry in his FAVC. 1 AA128. After the district court denied the Preliminary Injunction by order noticed on May 5, 2025, Silva filed his Notice of Appeal challenging that decision on May 16, 2025. 2 AA306-07. Following the filing of his Notice of Appeal, however, Silva filed an amended complaint on August 18, 2025 (the "SAVC"). The SAVC significantly and materially altered the FAVC in general, and Silva's claim for conversion in particular. 1 RA031. As the SAVC materially altered the FAVC, it is a "distinct pleading which supersede[s] the original." *Randono*, 100 Nev. at 143, 676 P.2d at 808.

There is no question that Silva's SAVC materially amended the FAVC and thus supersedes the FAVC upon which Silva's Application for Preliminary Injunction was based. Silva's FAVC asserted sixteen (16) causes of action, including thirteen (13) claims asserted directly against Member Respondents and two (2) derivative claims against the Member Respondents on CPI's behalf. 1 AA065-77. Most importantly,

CPI was named only as a nominal defendant, and Silva asserted no claims directly against CPI. *Id.* In contrast, the SAVC alleges only four (4) causes of action, including a conversion claim alleged against both the Member Respondents and CPI. 1 RA044-52. By adding CPI as a direct defendant to the conversion claim, the SAVC materially altered the complaint underlying Silva's request for injunctive relief.

The SAVC also materially altered the substance of the conversion allegations. *See* 1 AA065-77; 1 RA044-52. In the FAVC, Silva alleged that the Member Respondents—and only Member Respondents—converted his (1) “physical property” consisting of frozen cell vials and the cells manufactured by CPI, and (2) “intellectual property,” consisting of his cell manufacturing processes and treatment dosages. 1 AA073-74. Silva further alleged that Member Respondents Clay, Perry, and Nelson “wrongfully used” and “continue to profit” from Silva's property. *Id.*

In contrast, the SAVC asserts a conversion claim against a different set of defendants, which is also based on the alleged conversion of different property. 1 RA051-52. Although the SAVC again alleges that the Member Respondents converted Silva's “tangible” cell property, Silva now claims that the conversion “includes use by and on behalf of CPI” as well as alleged “personal use by the [Member Respondents], including for themselves, their family, and their friends.” *Id.* No such allegations exist in the FAVC's conversion claim. 1 AA073-74. The SAVC further alleges, for the first time, that CPI and the Member Respondents have

converted Silva’s “intangible property,” including “Silva’s share of distributions” and redeemed membership interests. 1 RA051-52. Furthermore, the conversion claim in the SAVC also omits any allegations related to Silva’s purported “intellectual property.” *Id.*

Thus, the SAVC did not merely clarify or refine the FAVC, but materially amended and superseded it by adding new parties and fundamentally altering the allegations upon which the claim was based. Because the district court’s order denying Silva’s Application for Preliminary Injunction was based on the now inoperable FAVC, any injunction would rest on a nonexistent claim for relief and would not be enforceable. Therefore, the Court cannot render effective relief, and the instant appeal is moot.

2. The Denial of Silva’s Application for Preliminary Injunction Is Not a Matter of Widespread Importance Capable of Repetition, Yet Evading Review.

This Court may consider an appeal that otherwise must be dismissed as moot if the appeal involves a matter of widespread importance that is “capable of repetition, yet evading repetition.” *Personhood Nev*, 126 Nev. at 602, 245 P.3d at 574 (2010). This exception to the mootness doctrine, applies “*only* if (1) the challenged action is in its duration too short to be fully litigated prior to its cessation or expiration, *and* (2) there is a reasonable expectation that *the same complaining party* will be subjected to *the same action again*.” *Valdez-Jimenez v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*

of Nev., 136 Nev. 155, 168, 460 P.3d 976, 989 (2020) (emphasis in original) (quoting *United States v. Sanchez-Gomez*, 584 U.S. 381, 391).

Here, despite Silva’s attempts to reframe this matter as a fight over a “source individual’s” consent, the scope of this appeal is limited to whether the district court erred in finding that Silva failed to present sufficient evidence to establish either irreparable harm or a likelihood of success on the merits of his claim that the Member Respondents converted his purported physical and intellectual property.

The district court’s denial of Silva’s Application for Preliminary Injunction does not satisfy either requirement of the exception to the mootness doctrine. The purpose of this exception is to allow an avenue for appellate courts to consider an important question of law that could otherwise never be decided because of the nature of its timing. *State v. Washoe County Pub. Defender*, 105 Nev. 299, 301, 775 P.2d 217, 218 (1989). Unlike situations involving gestation periods, the sale of real property, or the rights of detainees, litigants are always able to immediately appeal the denial of an application for preliminary injunction. NRAP 3A(b)(3).

The instant appeal was not rendered moot by an external deadline set by nature or statute, but by Silva’s decision to materially amend his FAVC upon which the Application for Preliminary Injunction was based. *See supra*. Because the mootness resulted from Silva’s voluntary act of materially altering his complaint, it does not satisfy the “short duration” requirement.

Likewise, there is no reasonable expectation that Silva will be subjected to the same action again. As discussed *infra*, the district court carefully evaluated the conversion allegations in the FAVC in conjunction with evidence presented by Silva and correctly concluded that Silva failed to establish irreparable harm or a likelihood of success on the merits of his claim against Member Respondents for the alleged conversion of purported “physical” and “intellectual” property. Those allegations have been superseded by materially different allegations redefining the “property” at issue and the addition of new defendants against whom no preliminary injunction was sought.

As Silva now advances materially different allegations against a different set of parties, a preliminary injunction based on the superseded FAVC is no longer possible. Thus, there is no reasonable expectation that Silva will be subjected to the same action again, and the exception to the mootness doctrine does not apply.

B. SILVA HAS NOT IDENTIFIED ANY LEGAL AUTHORITY DEMONSTRATING HE HAS THE ABILITY TO UNILATERALLY WITHDRAW CONSENT FOR THE CLINIC’S USE OF THE FROZEN AND MANUFACTURED CELLS.

Silva cites no legal authority for the proposition that an individual can unilaterally withdraw consent to a medical facility’s use of materials merely because those materials consist of biologic material allegedly derived from that individual’s children. His effort to characterize this appeal as presenting a legal question

pertaining to a clinic’s ability to use a “source individual’s” stem cells without written consent fails for multiple reasons.

First, Silva alleged his conversion claim solely against the Member Respondents. Second, the allegations in the FAVC expressly state that Silva provided the frozen cell vials to CPI and the Clinic. Third, CPI is a separate and distinct entity from the Mexico-based Clinic that manufactures cells and treats patients. Fourth, Silva is not the biological “source” of the stem cells at issue. Fifth, Silva had already commercialized his “master” stem cell line before contributing the frozen vials to the Clinic.

Additionally, the Nevada statutes concerning genetic testing and consumer health data on which Silva relies are inapplicable to the facts of this case and, in any event, were raised for the first time on appeal. Thus, Silva’s proposed legal question regarding a “source individual’s” consent is not presented by the record before this Court.

1. Neither the Allegations in the First Amended Verified Complaint nor the Evidence Presented by Silva in Support of His Application for Preliminary Injunction Raise a Legal Question Regarding Consent.

Silva relies exclusively on medical ethics applicable to physicians and medical facilities in an effort to reframe the issue in this case as to whether he may unilaterally withdraw consent for use of the frozen stem cell vials contributed to the Clinic. That framing is misplaced. Whether a physician may use “human biological

materials for commercial purposes without the consent of the donor” is not relevant to the Member Respondents, who are neither physicians nor medical providers, but merely members of a management company. *App.’s Opening Brief*, at 14-15. Moreover, Silva is not the biological source of the frozen cell vials and did not “donate” the vials to the Clinic; rather, he provided them as part of his contribution in exchange for his 25% membership interest in CPI. 1 AA168.

Silva further conflates (1) the individual Member Respondents with CPI, the management company, and (2) CPI with the Mexican Clinic that manufactures stem cells and provides treatment to patients. As Silva’s own pleadings reflect, however, the conversion claim upon which his injunction request is based was asserted solely against the Member Respondents in their individual capacities. As discussed *infra*, the Member Respondents are not scientists or doctors and they do not possess or treat patients with stem cells. 1 AA149; *see also infra* at V-C-4. Silva’s own allegations consistently attribute possession and use of the frozen cell vials to either CPI or the Clinic. *See* 1 AA054 at ¶16; 1 AA058 at ¶¶52-55; 1 AA064 at ¶¶107-09; *see also infra* at V-C-4. Neither CPI nor the Clinic is named as a defendant in the FAVC or as a respondent in this appeal. AA065-77. Thus, Silva’s conversion claim, the order denying injunctive relief, and the instant appeal are all limited in scope to the alleged acts of conversion of the Member Respondents, only.

Silva also improperly conflates CPI with the Clinic, a distinct and separate entity that is organized, licensed, and operates exclusively in Mexico. 1 AA141. According to Silva’s own allegations, the Clinic is the entity that (1) possesses the frozen cell vials contributed by Silva, (2) manufactures cells for treatment, and (3) administers those manufactured cells to treat patients. 1 AA058. Setting aside the fact that the Clinic is not a party, Silva asks this Court to restrict the actions of a foreign entity operating solely in Mexico without demonstrating any basis for this Court’s jurisdiction over that entity. *App. ’s Opening Brief*, at 14 (“**The Clinic** may not use Silva’s stem cells without his informed, written consent.”); *see also App. ’s Opening Brief*, at 16 (“**the Clinic bore the burden** of demonstrating that it obtained consent”).

Finally, Silvas proposed legal question as to whether a clinic can use “an individual’s stem cells” in the absence of informed, written consent as a means to “[protect] an individual’s unique biological material” is not supported by the facts of this case. *App. ’s Opening Brief*, at 16. Silva alleges that his “master” cell lines were created using his children’s umbilical cords and the frozen vials contributed to the Clinic “come from” those master cell lines. 1 AA058. Silva conceded in his Application for Preliminary Injunction that the frozen cell vials are derived from his children’s biological material, not his own. 1 AA131; *see also* 1 AA121 (regarding Member Respondents alleged “ongoing use of the biological material derived from

[Silva's] family's genetic material.") He further acknowledges on appeal that testing of the frozen cell vials "would confirm that they contain [his wife's] mitochondria," not his. *App. 's Opening Brief*, at 26. Silva did not assert his conversion claim on behalf of his children, and thus the facts do not raise any question concerning a "source individual's consent."

In short, the facts of this case are limited to Silva's attempt to unilaterally revoke consent from the Member Respondents for a non-party's use of his children's commercialized and voluntarily contributed biological material. Silva's proposed legal question regarding a "source individual's" consent is therefore not at issue in this appeal.¹

2. The Nevada Statutes Pertaining to Genetic Testing and Consumer Health Data Cited by Silva Are Irrelevant and Improperly Raised for the First Time on Appeal.

It is well settled that "arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this court." *Diamond Enters., Inc. v. Lau*, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951 P.2d 73, 74 (1997). In this appeal, Silva raises for the first time the argument that an

¹ Despite being a biologist who has "spent his entire career in the field of bioscience," Silva employs an absurd slippery slope argument claiming that denial of the instant appeal would allow "a wrongdoer to take a victim's Kleenex from the trash to develop a commercially successful stem cell line," presumably in an attempt to artificially elevate the stakes of this appeal. *App. 's Opening Brief*, at 17. However, this proposed hypothetical is irrelevant to the case at hand because Silva willingly contributed the frozen cell vials allegedly containing his children's biological material to the Clinic. The proposed hypothetical is also impossible, as stem cells cannot be harvested from a used Kleenex. See Saloman Poliwoda et. al., *Stem cells: a comprehensive review of origins and emerging clinical roles in medical practice*. ORTHOPEDIC REVIEWS. 2022;14(3).

individual's written consent is "inherently revocable" based on the language of NRS Chapters 629 and 603A. *App.'s Opening Brief*, at 16. Setting aside the fact that the underlying facts of the case concern a parent's alleged right to revoke consent for a non-party's use of his children's commercialized biological material, this Court need not (and should not) consider that argument because it was not raised below. *See* 1 AA 122-33.

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